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FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIR

With hundreds of fellow ramblers in March last year I walked above Castleton
in the Peak District to celebrate the passage of the National Parks and Access
to the Countryside Act 70 years before. The event brought home to me the rich
legacy we have inherited from our predecessors. They campaigned for and won
national parks, areas of outstanding natural beauty, definitive maps of public
paths. A great movement was created around these victories, and we are still
that movement today.
Our tireless volunteers check paths, scrutinise planning applications, research
lost ways, and lead many thousands of walks to delight our members and an
ever-widening public. Increasingly we are able to support their work with extra
staff and improved technology—thanks to the players of the People’s Postcode
Lottery and other supporters.
Outstanding successes in the last year include: our Don’t Lose Your Way
campaign to record historic ways now gathering urgency and momentum;
the first towns adopting our new Charter for Walking Neighbourhoods;
a fully-waymarked Cambrian Way, stretching the length of Wales; and the
Out There project in Scotland which is helping young adults to experience
the outdoors. Every day there are groups of ramblers, walking or working
for us, or independent walkers finding their way with our new walkers’ app.
Kate Ashbrook
Chair of Trustees
The Ramblers

After the year ended, we said goodbye to our chief executive, Van Griffiths,
who stepped down after three years. During her time with us she has revitalised
the Ramblers, strengthened our campaigning voice and significantly improved
the way we work with our volunteers and external partners, among much else.
I thank Van and all our superb staff, my fellow trustees and our volunteers for
making us a great movement.
Since I wrote this introduction in early February life has radically changed and,
as we publish our annual report which reflects on our many achievements over
the year to September 2019, we are in the middle of the coronavirus pandemic.
The Ramblers has been around for a long time, through the tough days and the
bright days. We shall continue to fight for the rights of walkers, for the protection
of our important green spaces and for the joys of walking. Together we’re
stronger. Thank you to all our members, volunteers and supporters for standing
with us at this difficult time.

The Ramblers’ Association is a registered charity (England & Wales number 1093577, Scotland number
SC039799) and a company limited by guarantee, registered in England & Wales (number 4458492).
Registered office: 2nd floor, Camelford House, 87-90 Albert Embankment, London SE1 7T

2

Ramblers Annual Review 2018/19

3

About us

The next ten years

The Ramblers protects the places we
all love to go walking so that everyone,
everywhere, can enjoy the outdoors
on foot.

Over the next ten years, we will focus on four ambitions to help us fulfil
our mission and make our vision a reality. We will invest in these themes
to stimulate growth, ensure continued value and relevance to our supporters
and deliver our charitable aims.

We are the only charity dedicated to looking after
paths and green spaces, leading walks, opening up
new places to explore and encouraging everyone to
get outside and discover how walking boosts your
health and your happiness.
Since 1935, we’ve worked to protect and expand
the places where we love to walk, as well as bringing
walking to new audiences.
In such a context, it is vital that we look outwards,
remain flexible and adapt at pace to our evolving
circumstances, so that we will remain relevant to
current and future generations. We are a strong and
mature organisation with an extraordinary history of
successful campaigning for walkers’ rights: hard won
over the last eighty-four years. To continue to thrive and
to grow our movement, we need our charitable work to
be supported by our members, enacted by our volunteers,
enabled by our staff and overseen by our trustees.
Over the last three years, we have embarked on a major
transformation programme thanks to players of People’s
Postcode Lottery. We are investing in membership growth,
volunteer support, major campaigns, development of our
digital and data capabilities and improvements to our
infrastructure. We have already made great progress as
a team. Over the next three years, we need to continue
to think and act as one team, drawing on our collective
strengths together, we will work tirelessly to protect the
places we all love to walk and ensure that everyone,
everywhere can discover the joy of walking.

Our objectives
The reason why we exist
Our charitable purpose is to provide and protect
footpaths and public access rights, to protect the
beauty of the countryside and other areas, to provide
open-air recreational activities for social welfare and
to deliver public education on access, conservation
and the health benefits of outdoor activities.

Our mission
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We will grow members,
supporters and income

This will include finding, recording, maintaining,
improving and creating paths, removing barriers,
and running great campaigns to enable everyone
to access nature.

This will include diversifying our income streams
and developing our service levels, membership
offer and routes, to appeal to both group and
independent walkers.

We will help everyone
to find their feet

We will become
a great charity

This will include delivering a diverse range of high
quality walks and playing to the strengths of our
brand and new digital tools to inspire and educate
people about walking.

This will include investing in staff and volunteer
leadership development, reviewing policies and
reporting systems and continuously improving
our digital capabilities.

What we aim to achieve together
To create a country where everyone has the
freedom to enjoy the outdoors on foot and
to benefit from the experience.

Our vision
Why people will support us
We are at the heart of a growing movement
of walkers, helping people to become healthier
and happier, through spending time in nature.

Our values
The shared beliefs which guide us
We aim to be welcoming and inclusive to all,
positive in our outlook, empowering of each other,
ethical, democratic and environmentally responsible.

www.ramblers.org.uk
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We will create a country
designed for walking
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Our overall impact in 2018/19

Who are the Ramblers?

Growing members, supporters and income

102,214

members

8,000
Walking for Health

volunteers

total fundraising income

volunteers
Walking
for Health
schemes

90

path
maintenance
groups

in England,
Scotland
and Wales

360
148

11,399 14%

£2.1 million

20,000

81%

staff

new members

of members who care
passionately about the
work of The Ramblers

78%

increase

in new members

of members who trust
The Ramblers to use
their money wisely
and deliver its mission

Helping everyone find their feet

40,980
group walks published

young adults
48 completed
the 3 day Out There Award

Creating a country designed for walking

29 million
total media circulation for

Don’t Lose Your Way

12,000 votes
for Britain’s Best Walking Neighbourhoods

89%

8,000

volunteers satisfaction
of first aid training courses
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for Health Walks delivered,
improving the health of

downloads

90,718
walkers

of the Winter Walking Guide

Becoming a great charity

89%

10,000

of votes for Britain’s Best
Walking Neighbourhoods
from non-members

downloads of

The Ramblers’ App
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93,600 Ramblers Walking

07

343
weekly users

of the app

2,400

accounts created

on the Insight Hub

2018
19 Highlights

The Ramblers launch
the search for lost paths

Thousands of miles of
paths across England
and Wales could be
lost forever if they’re
not added to the
definitive map
by 2026.

Creating a
    country
designed for    
29
        walking
Ramblers Annual Review 2018/19
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The campaign has already received extensive media coverage in print,
online, radio and tv, reaching around 29 million people in total including:
–

Featured articles in six national newspapers including The Guardian,
Sunday Telegraph and Daily Express.

–

Local and national television coverage, including our president,
Stuart Maconie, appearing on BBC Breakfast.

–

Local and national radio coverage, including BBC Radio 4
programmes PM and Farming Today.

Awareness of Don’t Lose Your Way has led to over 5,000 people downloading
our guide and joining the search for lost rights of way.
In February 2020, we will launch exciting new crowd-sourcing tool, making
it easy for supporters to find ‘lost paths’ in England and Wales. And we will
work to grow our community of volunteers who will be essential in helping
us to map and save these lost ways.

Don’t Lose Your
Way had a media
circulation reach of

10

The Ramblers’ ‘Don’t Lose Your Way’ campaign is building a growing movement
across the country to uncover, save and formally recognise generations of these
lost paths and hidden ways before it’s too late.

million
people

Britain’s Best Walking
Neighbourhood Award

Empowered local volunteers
to speak up for walkers’ rights

We want everyone to have easy access to quality
green spaces within a short walk of their front door.
Our Britain’s Best Walking Neighbourhood Award
showcases best practice across the country.

In 2018/19, we added two new posts to our local
advocacy and casework team strengthening our
support for volunteers to influence local decisions
on paths, planning and access, as well as building
constructive partnerships with local authorities.
This is helping us to protect and enhance our paths
and have a much bigger impact in local areas.

The award flourished in its second year with 82
nominations (up from 30 in 2018) supported by extensive
local and national media coverage. The award reached
new audiences with 89% of the 12,000 people who voted
being new to the Ramblers. The final winner was Falkirk,
which stood out for having an impressive 383 miles
of paths that recently had maintenance, connectivity
and signposting improvements.
We also hosted a parliamentary celebration attended
by MPs, peers, volunteers and supporters. Our host,
Dan Jarvis MP, Mayor of the Sheffield City Region,
became the first mayor to sign up to our Charter for
Walking Neighbourhoods, which sets out five clear
steps councils can take to make their neighbourhoods
better for walking. In August, Totnes Town Council
became the first Council to adopt the Charter.
We’re building on the success of the campaign this year
by working with volunteers in Manchester and London,
to influence the upcoming Mayoral Elections to ensure
Mayors and Local Councils are investing in walking
neighbourhoods in future.

Wraight Shepherd, Chair of Stirling Falkirk
and District Ramblers

Hexham Ramblers are a great example of this local
advocacy in action; over the last two years, this group
have built a close relationship with Northumberland
District council’s rights of way officers. Their path
maintenance team undertakes vital tasks to complement
work by council contractors, such as installing non-slip
mesh onto new wooden footbridges. We are now using
this group as an excellent benchmark to encourage
other groups to build similar relationships with their
local authorities.

“

It’s a testament to the
commitment of the council
working together with local
communities that Falkirk
has been transformed in
recent years into a place
that is enjoyable and easy
to walk around, building
a real culture of walking.
Wraight Shepherd
Chair of Stirling
Falkirk and District Ramblers
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The team delivered interactive rights of way training
to 137 volunteers at seven Ramblers Roadshows and
introduced new easy-to-access fact sheets to give
volunteers the data they need to make a strong case
for rights of way locally.

“

I learned a lot and feel
energised by the activity
and eager to engage
A volunteer’s feedback from
rights of way training session

Welsh footpaths are protected
and enhanced for the future

In Wales, we teamed up with volunteers and other
organisations – including two National Parks and the
National Trust – to waymark the Cambrian Way, Wales’
most challenging long-distance route. The 298-mile walking
route that runs the length of the nation, from Cardiff in the
south to Conwy in the north was drawn up 50 years ago by
dedicated Ramblers member Tony Drake and crosses some
of the remotest and most beautiful parts of Wales, taking
in many of its highest peaks.
214 miles (72%) of the trail has now been waymarked with
Ramblers staff and volunteers supporting the creation of a
new guidebook from Cicerone Press to promote the route.
The guidebook was launched in Cardiff with President Will
Renwick, Vice President Huw Irranca Davies, Cambrian Way
Trust members, and supported by four celebratory walks
across the route. The rest of the route will be way marked
by April 2020.
The waymarking of the Cambrian Way is supported
by players of People’s Postcode Lottery.

Fiona Phillips, People’s Postcode Lottery
ambassador, walking the Cambrian Way
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Paths for People

Paths for People is a community led initiative in
partnership with town and community councils to
help safeguard a unique part of our heritage – the
network of public footpaths, bridleways and byways
(more than 20,750 miles in total) which reach into
every corner of Wales.
The last year has delivered valuable learning and
on-the-ground projects in eight communities in Wales.
It has allowed significant relationship building to be
undertaken and interest to be part of the project amongst
communities is now forthcoming. Over the next two years,
staff will be focused on local community-based training,
delivery of activities on the ground, including through
closer links with partner charities in the nature and
wellbeing sectors and local advocacy support.

Case study
Taff Ely Ramblers “Bunny Walks”
Originally conceived in the 1970s by local
group Taff Ely Ramblers the ‘Bunny Walks’
aimed to connect the local community
with paths, promote the local network and
consequently achieve a better maintenance
of the routes.
As part of the Paths for People project, Ramblers
Cymru reignited the project, providing tools
and kit for the path maintenance team and
organising a local marketing campaign. A local
launch event was delivered, attended by 90
people the majority being from local families,
and it received local and regional press coverage.
Bunny Walks launch event, 2019

“

Despite the Bunny Walks
being around for 30+ years,
we have had a lot of the local
community who did not even
know they existed – they
now provide an opportunity
for people to explore their
local area, as well as enabling
visitors to the area to see
what is on offer, benefitting
from fresh air and exercise.
Alison Jenkins
Deputy Clerk of Community Council
Bunny Walks launch event, 2019
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Growing
members,
supporters
and income

Launch of the
Ramblers’ members app

We want all our members
to receive high-quality
support, resources and
walking experiences
to help them become
happier and healthier.

In 2019, we launched a new membership strategy, which aims to engage and
attract more members, to protect and save our walking landscapes. We ran
a digital campaign asking walkers to come and try a walk with us which has
already led to hundreds of new members joining us. We’ve also reached new
audiences and inspired them to learn more about the Ramblers.
An exciting new development also came with the launch our new Ramblers
app. By the end of 2019, it had already received over 10,000 downloads,
and is enabling many more people to get out walking in the great outdoors.
Importantly, the app is a great new member benefit. It now includes all Ramblers
led walks as well as 3,000 independent routes from the Ramblers library,
opening up new places for our members to discover and explore on foot.
As we look ahead to next year, we’ll be focusing on how we can make our
brand more relevant for the wider walking community – so we can welcome
even more walkers to the Ramblers.

“

You will never meet a
more welcoming group
of people than the Ramblers
Member commenting
on Facebook post
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New insight research
from members and
non-members

81%

As we continue to grow and develop as a charity,
it is very important to listen to our members and
supporters is very important to us. Together, we
can connect more people through the Ramblers.

of our members care
passionately about the
work of the Ramblers

This year, we surveyed over 1,000 members of the
public and 2,700 members, asking them about the
types of walks they enjoy, their perceptions of our
membership package, and how we compare to
other charities for value for money and experience.
The results we received gave us much food for thought,
particularly in how we can support our walking groups
offer a wider range of walks (speed, timing, difficulty),
as well as giving us insight into the opportunity to attract
new members who walk independently.

78%

of our members trust
The Ramblers to use
their money wisely
and deliver its mission

In addition, we surveyed our members to find out more
about their satisfaction with the current membership
package. We were very pleased to hear that satisfaction
was high, with the most popular feature being our led walks.

78%

“

Sounds good for getting
people outdoors and
meeting new people

of our members are
satisfied with how
The Ramblers
interacts with them

Quote from a non-member
walker on the Ramblers
membership offer
Festival of Winter Walks, 2018
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Increasing and
diversifying our income

Growing and diversifying our income
as a charity is crucial to our long-term
sustainability. This year, we have
recruited a new fundraising team and
launched a new fundraising strategy.
The focus for the first year has been to test a range
of new approaches to raising funds. This includes
relaunching our appeals programme to engage
our supporters in donating to the Ramblers, raising
awareness of the importance of gifts in wills and
how to support the Ramblers in this way and testing
strategies to engage new donors, including through
digital channels.
We’ve also created campaigns and guides to inspire
individuals to raise funds for the Ramblers in their
community or to take on a sponsored challenge for
the charity. We’ve been hugely supported by players
of Peoples’ Postcode Lottery throughout 2018/19
and are working to grow the number of partnerships
we have with corporates, trusts and statutory
funders to fund our key projects and programmes.
–

Over £150,000 of donations received from individuals

–

Total funding received from restricted grants
and from people who left money in their will
for the Ramblers: £2.1 million

–

22

Total support received from players of
People’s Postcode Lottery: £2.8 million
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A big thank you
A huge thank you to all of our volunteers
and supporters whose commitment to
our shared vision makes them integral
to all aspects of our work.
Together we are creating a country where everyone
has the freedom to enjoy the outdoors on foot
benefits from the experience.
It’s not possible to list everyone who has
contributed to our work but we wanted to recognise
the following funders in particular for their support
over the last year.
–

Cambrian Way Trust

–

Cotswold Outdoors

–

East Berkshire Ramblers

–

Players of People’s Postcode Lottery

–

National Community Lottery Fund

–

Scottish Government – Active Scotland

–

Sport England

–

Ramblers Holidays Charitable Trust

–

Welsh Government – Foundational
Economy Challenge Fund
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Relaunched
short health walks

In 2018/19, the Walking for Health programme
supported over 360 local-led group walk
schemes, and helped improve the physical
and mental wellbeing of over 90,718 walkers,
including 20,000 new participants.

62%

of schemes established
new walks in 2018/19

The Ramblers Walking for Health programme gets people active by
encouraging walking in led groups, to help enhance physical and mental
wellbeing. It also helps get more people active, such as older people
and those with long-term health conditions, and tackles loneliness
and social isolation.
Given the popularity of the Ramblers’ Walking for Health in local areas,
62% of schemes established new walks in the last year to diversify
their programmes by offering walks in new locations of differing
lengths as well as in partnership with other local organisations.

Helping
everyone
find their
feet

For many people who have walked with their local scheme, it has been
a life changing experience.

“

I’ve never looked back.
Physically it’s been amazing.
I have to go for a yearly
checkup for my lung
condition, and the nurse
was doing cartwheels! My
lung capacity increased and
I’ve lost 21 pounds in body
weight. And life is a lot less
lonely – I’m mentally fitter
now. I’ve met so many lovely
people. The walks have been
the making of me. I don’t
know what I’d do without
the scheme, it’s totally
changed my life.
Cliff
Ramblers Walking for Health beneficiary
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Out There campaign to
get young people walking

In 2018, Ramblers Scotland
commissioned a major poll of adults
in Scotland to probe what issues are
stopping people from enjoying the
nation’s world-class landscapes on foot.

The Ramblers’ ‘Don’t Lose Your Way’ campaign is building a growing movement
across the country to uncover, save and formally recognise generations of these
lost paths and hidden ways before it’s too late.
The campaign has already received extensive media coverage in print,
online, on radio and tv, reaching around 29 million people in total including:

Surprisingly, the poll found that young adults were
considerably less confident to go walking than all other
age groups. Sadly, they lacked both walking partners
and knowledge of where to walk.
In response, the Ramblers launched the Out There Award
in summer 2019 to help 18 to 26-year-olds kick-start their
journeys into the outdoors. The free award is split over three
non-consecutive days, each with a different focus: outdoor
skills, volunteering and a challenging walk – such as a local
Munro or long-distance walk.
The Award, which is funded by Active Scotland and players
of People’s Postcode Lottery, has been very successful so
far, in inspiring and equipping more young people to get
out walking, to meet new people and build their confidence
along the way.
–

48 young adults completed the award by the end
of 2019

–

65% of participants were female. A key objective
for the project is to attract more young women
to get out walking

–

100% of participants would recommend
the Out There Award to other young adults

Joanna
Out There Awards participant
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–

Local and national television coverage, including our president,
Stuart Maconie, appearing on BBC Breakfast

–

Local and national radio coverage, including BBC Radio 4
programmes PM and Farming Today

In February 2020, we launched an exciting new crowd-sourcing tool, making
it easy for supporters to find ‘lost paths’ in England and Wales. And, we worked
to grow our community of volunteers who will be essential in helping us to map
and save these lost ways.

100%

of participants
would recommend
the Out There
Award to other
young adults
00
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Featured articles in six national newspapers including the Guardian,
Sunday Telegraph and Daily Express

Awareness of Don’t Lose Your Way, has led to over 5,000 people downloading
our guide and joining the search for lost rights of way.

“

I had been wanting to try hill
walking for a while but never
knew how to get started or
know anyone to go with. As
I have a visual impairment,
I was anxious about this
affecting my independence
outdoors. I thoroughly
enjoyed doing the Award and
have already signed up to five
walks. I no longer feel like my
poor eyesight is stopping me
from getting out there.

–
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New first aid training

Successful walk
leadership training

Our Scottish walk leadership project recognises and
builds upon the talents of our walk leader volunteers.
The project has boosted the hands-on training to our
growing pool of more than 1,210 walk leaders in Scotland –
which helps them to organise more diverse, attractive walk
programmes. Walk leaders currently offer over 3,500 led
walks in Scotland each year, which benefit thousands of
people across the country.

Working with St John Ambulance, we introduced a new
programme of first aid training as part of our wider support
for volunteers – empowering them to develop the skills,
knowledge and confidence they need to plan and lead
safe, fun and inspiring walks.
As well as advice on our website, we developed a
bespoke half-day training course, tailored to the needs
of walkers, focusing on the issues that they are most
likely to face on a group walk.

In 2018/19, we delivered walk leadership training to
another 60 volunteers and trained 67 people to mentor
new walk leaders.

In 2018/19, a total of 1,132 volunteers attended one
of the 123 courses we ran across Great Britain. The
courses have proved popular with 89% of participants
telling us they’d recommend them to their fellow
volunteers. We’re now reviewing the project, and
developing first aid resources for volunteers in
2020, building on the success of the programme.

The courses have proved hugely popular, with 96% of
participants saying they’d recommend them to new walk
leaders. Building on this success, we started to roll out
walk leader training across England and Wales with
nine courses delivered in 2018/19 and 102 planned for
the coming year.

Walk Leadership training
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Wales Coast Path Festival

To celebrate the Wales Coast Path’s seventh anniversary, a total of 42 walks
were held at seven locations during weekends throughout May. A total
of 636 people attended thematic walks, ranging from visits to old World War II
bunkers and beach cleans to coastal foraging, Celtic mythology and searching
for red squirrels.
This was a fantastic profile-raising event with over 25 press articles, reaching
a potential audience of over seven million people and with 13 mentions in the
Senedd. This included BBC Radio Wales interviews on the Carol Vorderman
show and on Country Focus.

“

I like going for long walks
of eight miles and over with
other people. The festival
acted as a catalyst to make
us think that we could walk
together more regularly in
the future, in the countryside
or on the coast.
Louise is a yoga teacher who joined
one of the longer walks from Burry
Port with three friends after they saw
the event mentioned on Facebook.

Wales Coast Path, 2019
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New digital tools

Becoming
a
great
charity

The Ramblers are at a
crossroads in becoming
significantly more
technologically
advanced, which is
enabling our staff,
volunteers and members
to gain new insights
and knowledge to
help improve our path
network, reach new
people to join our walks
and improve everything
that we do.

“

We now take walk registers
at every walk, and this has
given a new authenticity that
the Ramblers are affiliated
with the group. This has
helped to professionalise
the experience and makes
members feel that they are
part of something bigger.
Rebekah
Chair, Glasgow Young Walkers Group.
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In 2018/19, we continued to develop and introduce new technological
innovations. Ahead of the launch in 2020, we piloted our new volunteer
website that transforms the way volunteers are supported, and will make
volunteering with the Ramblers a great experience for current and future
Ramblers volunteers and will help to keep them safe.
Our volunteers have started to utilise our new Insight Hub, with 2,400 regular
users, where they can find daily, automated updates. They now have instant
access to the most relevant, near real-time information and analysis, including
membership trends in their Areas and Groups, the numbers of people walking
and path issues in their area. This data allows us to demonstrate all the
great work that other volunteers are doing and increase visibility of it
across the organisation.

New operations and
volunteering department for
enhanced volunteer support

New infrastructure to
support IT, HR and Finance

In 2018/19, we invested in staff and established a new volunteering
development team, including a new role of Head of Volunteering
Development, which will enable us to continue to deliver better
support to our dedicated enthusiastic volunteers in a much more
hands-on way. We want our volunteers to have the best possible
experience whilst volunteering on behalf of the Ramblers so that
they feel supported and valued. Over the coming years, we will
continue refining the support, training and guidance we’re able to
give volunteers and the resources we’re creating for them. As part
of this, we have started to review our existing policies and procedures
as well as develop new ones to better support volunteers in their roles.

In 2018/19, we invested in new finance and HR software which has automated many recurring, business-critical tasks
and reduced administrative costs. A major IT update has delivered a modern, consistent experience for staff and improved
the overall technical management, capacity, resilience, security and monitoring of our computer systems, network and
server infrastructure. By investing in these key systems, we are becoming a more efficient charity and can spend more
time and money on delivering our charitable objectives.

We delivered nine Ramblers Roadshows across the country which
provided 395 volunteers with workshops run on a variety of topics
including ‘Rights of Way’, ‘Navigation’ and ‘First Aid’ and enabled
them to speak to staff who are leading on some of the key areas
of change such as the data and digital offer to volunteers.

Average satisfaction
rating for Ramblers
Roadshows was

9/10
from attendees
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Financials
2018
19
The Ramblers’ Association trustees’ report
and financial statements for the year ended
30 September 2019.
The trustees of the Ramblers’ Association,
who are also directors of the company for
the year ended 30 September 2019 under
the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies
Act 2006, present the trustees’ annual report
for the year (including the directors report
and the strategic report under the 2006 Act),
together with the audited financial statements
for the year.
The financial statements comply with current
statutory requirements, financial reporting
standards, the articles of association and
the charities SORP (FRS102).
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Our vision

–

advancing the education of the public in subjects
relating to access to, and the preservation and
conservation of, the countryside and of the
health benefits of outdoor recreational pursuits.

Our mission
The Ramblers’ mission is to create a country where
everyone has the freedom to enjoy the outdoors on
foot and benefits from the experience. We will protect,
improve and enhance the places that people enjoy
to walk and open up new places for them to explore.
We will help people explore their local area and
the beauty of Great Britain by making sure paths
and green spaces are well maintained and the rights
and freedoms of walkers are upheld.

Public benefit
The objects of the Ramblers as stated in our Articles
of Association are to promote, encourage or assist in:

Ramblers Annual Review 2018/19

the provision of facilities for the organising of openair recreational activities and in particular rambling
and mountaineering with the object of improving the
conditions of life for the persons for whom the facilities
are intended, namely the public at large, and in the
interests of social welfare, health and wellbeing;

A country where everyone enjoys the outdoors
on foot and benefits from the experience.

We will help to create a country where society understands
the benefits of walking for both recreation and shorter
journeys, and where communities have easy access to
high quality places to walk, from attractive urban areas
to open spaces in the countryside. We will support people
of all ages and backgrounds, so they can experience the
great outdoors on foot, resulting in improvements in
health, wellbeing and happiness.
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–

–

the provision and protection of footpaths and
other ways over which the public have a right of
way or access on foot, including the prevention
of obstruction of public rights of way;

–

the protection and enhancement for the benefit of
the public of the beauty of the countryside and other
areas by such lawful means as the trustees think fit,
including by encouraging the provision, preservation
and extension of public access to land on foot;
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As a charity, the Ramblers must have purposes all
of which are exclusively charitable (as defined by the
Charities Act 2011) and are for the public benefit. The
trustees confirm that they have referred to the Charity
Commission’s guidance on public benefit when reviewing
the Ramblers’ aims and objectives and in planning future
activities.More details of many of the specific activities
undertaken by the Ramblers to carry out its charitable
purposes for the public benefit are set out in the following
section on achievements and performance during the year.

Trustees’ report

Trustees’ report – Activities, achievements and performance 2018/19

Activities, achievements and performance 2018/19

In March 2015, our ten-year strategic framework
was approved by the General Council. This framework
sets out our ambitions to lead from the front, to create
a country designed for walking, to help everyone
to find their feet and to connect people through
the Ramblers.
We seek to fulfil our charitable objectives and deliver
this strategic framework though the implementation
of our three-year rolling GB business plan which is
renewed annually by the Board of Trustees. The
plan states how we will move towards our vision of
a country where everyone enjoys the outdoors on
foot and benefits from the experience. The Ramblers
Great Britain plan is supported by complementary
plans from Ramblers Cymru and Ramblers Scotland
in line with our devolution agreements.
We are a strong, mature and successful organisation.
To remain relevant, we need our work to be supported
by our members, enacted by our volunteers, enabled
by our staff and overseen by our trustees.
Our activities in 2018/19 focused on five priorities, as well
as ongoing core themes as set out in the business plan:
1.

Transforming our data, digital
and insight capabilities

We will create a suite of strategic capabilities including
a data centre, insight hub, mobile apps and walk library,
with new creation and curation tools and a new website
and communication system, to provide better insight
and improved understanding of our supporters.

2.

We will deliver regular campaign activities throughout
the year and innovative, awareness-raising approaches,
to reach out and proactively involve supporters with
our cause and deliver on our policy aims across all
three nations.
–

–
–

–

–

3.

–

–

A central data warehouse for analytics and reporting
has been delivered, with a geo-spatial database.

–

–

We piloted Assemble our volunteering platform tool.
The full roll out for all volunteers will happen 2019/20.
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The Don’t Lose Your Way (DLYW) campaign received
extensive media coverage including featured articles
in six national newspapers.

–

–

–

12,000 people voted as part of Britain’s Best Walking
Neighbourhood Awards.
We responded to approximately 2,000 public rights
of way enquiries, processed around 1,450 path orders
and handled over 8,000 reports of path problems
in Englad and Wales via Pathwatch.
We raised the profile of the importance of public
rights of way (PRoW) and access to the countryside
with the UK government especially in relation to the
Agriculture Bill.
In its 30th year, the Festival of Winter Walks focused
on the mental health benefits of walking.

4.

We piloted new Walk Leadership Essentials training
in Scotland – including the introduction of volunteer
mentors and trainers. This work will inform the future
delivery across England and Wales, helping to build
existing walk leader’s confidence as well as recruiting
new walk leaders.
In December 2018, we secured funding from Sport
England and the National Lottery Community Fund
to support Walking for Health and to integrate this
with other Ramblers work and groups.
We made great strides in our support for the 148
Ramblers path maintenance teams – building strong
relationships between staff, volunteers and local
authorities and providing consistent resources
such a waymarkers.

–

The creation and roll-out of a new three-year
membership and fundraising strategy is enabling
the Ramblers to begin to halt the decline of
membership, grow and diversify income streams.

–

Member benefits were enhanced by the ongoing
development of the new members’ app, enabling
members to quickly to search for led walks and
routes near them and across Britain.

–

The development of the Ramblers’ member and
supporter journey continued, including asking
lapsed members their reasons for leaving and
inviting them to rejoin.

We continued to provide support to Ramblers groups
leading walks, helping with incident management, and
walk planning and promotion to ensure our 50,000 led
walks are safe, accessible, welcoming and inspiring.
We developed and delivered 123 outdoor specific first
aid training sessions – improving safety for those who
walk with our groups.
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5.

Improving internal infrastructure

We will continue to improve our in-house support systems
through our Tapestry programme. The upgrading of our
foundational infrastructure will enhance our effectiveness
and efficiency. We will also develop a long-term location
strategy in 2018/19 as the lease on our Vauxhall office
expires in March 2020.
–

2018/19 saw the introduction of a single sign-on
solution for Insight Hub, Ramblers app and
Assemble our volunteering tool.

–

Our network infrastructure hardware refresh which
included new server/endpoint security systems and
cloud backup and started in 2017/18 is now completed.
Further work will continue with our HR and Finance
system in 2020.

–

Our People plan was presented and agreed by the
senior leadership team and the Board of Trustees.

–

A five-year extension to the office lease (with an
optional break after year three) was agreed. Work
will continue with the development of a long-term
property strategy.

Growing members, supporters
and associated income

We will put our members at the heart of our work. We will
diversify our income through partnerships with individual
supporters and corporate partners, to strengthen our
financial position.

Expanding support for volunteering

We will develop our training, resources, policies and
guidance for volunteers across the whole organisation.
We will provide support for our walking activities, focusing
on those delivering walks, path maintenance and Area/
Group leadership volunteers. We will explore integration
of our short health walks.

We delivered a data centre, a self-serve insight hub
and mobile apps, with about 500 people using the
Insight Hub and over 10,000 downloads by the end
of 2019.

–

Developing a regular cycle of campaigns

Core ongoing themes
In addition to the five key development priorities
outlined above, we will continue steadfastly to support
our volunteers and work together to build a strong charity
which delivers exceptional services for our members and
the walking public. We will provide this support through
continuing to invest resources into governance, devolution
and teamwork.
–

Ten organisational key performace indicators were
approved by our Board of Trustees in September.

–

Quantitative research with members and non-members
was completed.

–

Our business plan 2020-22 was approved by board in
September with four themes and twenty goals for the
next three years. An updated and enhanced quarterly
reporting dashboard will be developed.

–

Improvements to service reporting has now been
fully scoped and will be implemented in 2019/20.

Trustees’ report

Structure, governance and management

Our planned activities 2019/20

Over the last three years we have embarked on a major
transformation programme. We are investing in membership
growth, volunteer support, major campaigns, development
of our digital and data capabilities and improvements to
our infrastructure. We have already made great progress
together.

Whilst the coronavirus crisis has forced the charity to review
its business plan, our plan continues to include the following
priorities:
We will create a country designed for walking
–

Over the next three years, we need to continue to think
and act as one team. This means, fostering a culture
of trust and adhering to our collective values and code
of conduct, which encourage alignment and collaboration.

This will include finding, recording, maintaining,
improving and creating paths, removing barriers,
and running great campaigns to enable everyone
to access nature.

We will help everyone to find their feet
In 2019/20 we will continue to prioritise and deliver
transformative change, through implementing our new
business plan. This business plan articulates how we
are continuing to work towards achieving the ambitions
outlined in this framework, through investment in four
key themes, over the next three years.

–

This will include delivering a diverse range of highquality walks and playing to the strengths of our brand
and new digital tools to inspire and educate people
about walking.

We will grow members, supporters and income
We will invest in these four themes to stimulate growth,
ensure continued value and relevance to our supporters
and deliver our charitable aims.

–

This will include diversifying our income streams
and developing our service levels, membership
offer and routes, to appeal to both group and
independent walkers.

We will become a great charity
–

This will include investing in staff and volunteer
leadership development, reviewing policies and
reporting systems and continuously improving
our digital capabilities.

Status

Governing document

The Ramblers are a charitable company limited
by guarantee, incorporated on 11 June 2002
and registered as a charity on 29 August 2002.

The company was established under a memorandum
of association, which established the objects and
powers of the charitable company and is governed
by its articles of association.

Administrative details
Board of trustees
Company number:

4458492

Charity numbers:		
1093577 (England & Wales)
			SC039799 (Scotland)
Registered office and main operational address
2nd Floor, Camelford House, 87-90 Albert Embankment,
London SE1 7TW
Ramblers Scotland operational address:
Caledonia House, 1 Redheughs Rigg, South Gyle
Edinburgh EH12 9DQ
Ramblers Cymru operational address:
3 Coopers Yard, Curran Road, Cardiff CF10 5NB
Bankers:
Unity Trust Bank Plc, Nine Brindleyplace,
Birmingham B1 2HB
HSBC Bank Plc, Bank House, High Street,
Hampton Wick, Kingston upon Thames KT1 4DA
Investment manager:
CCLA Investment Management Ltd, Senator House,
85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4ET
Auditor:
Crowe U.K. LLP, St. Bride’s House, 10 Salisbury Square
London EC4Y 8EH
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The governing body of the Ramblers is the Board of
Trustees, which comprises up to 15 members. The
trustees are also directors under company law.
The key role of the board is to determine the strategy for
achieving our mission (in consultation with General Council)
and the oversight of the implementation of that strategy
across our range of activities. This includes our values,
ethics, image and communications. The Board of Trustees
has the overall responsibility for ensuring that the Ramblers
pursues its charitable objects, complies with its own
constitution and relevant legislation, regulation, guidance
and best practice, applies its resources exclusively to its
objects and safeguards and advances the interests of
walkers throughout Great Britain.
The Board of Trustees currently meets formally eight times
a year. All trustees give their time voluntarily and are not
remunerated for their work on behalf of the Ramblers
beyond the reimbursement of reasonable expenses.
One or more members of the senior leadership team,
including the chief executive, attend each board meeting.
The governance manager acts as secretary to the board.
The rules governing the election of trustees are set
out in the articles. The Board of Trustees consists of:
–

The Chair and honorary treasurer elected by
the General Council.

–

Nine members elected by the General Council.

–

Not more than two members co-opted by the
Board of Trustees.

–

A member appointed by each of the constituent
parts (Ramblers Scotland and Ramblers Cymru).

Structure, governance and management

Structure, governance and management

A person becomes eligible to be elected to the Board of Trustees after being a member of the Ramblers for at least twelve
consecutive months. All elected trustees including officers can serve up to three-year terms at which point they are eligible
for re-election. A trustee may serve for a maximum period of six years. The only exception to this is the chair. Upon election,
the chair holds office for a single term of three years. The co-option of trustees may result from the annual review of the
board’s mix of skills, diversity and competencies. Co-opted trustees serve for a term of one year and may be co-opted
again for a maximum of two further terms. Co-opted trustees may seek election at the end of their terms.

Induction and training of trustees

Sub-committees

Formal induction is given to all new trustees who are
invited to attend meetings with Ramblers staff and
current trustees as part of the induction process.
Trustees are also encouraged to attend recommended
external training courses for charity trustees.

The board has two sub-committees, each chaired by
a trustee and with terms of reference and functions
delegated by the board.

Trustees in 2018/19

Trustees have a legal duty to avoid conflicts of interest
so they can focus exclusively on the best interests of the
Ramblers. The Ramblers maintains a register of interests,
which is updated annually by trustees and as any changes
are reported. Procedures are in place for managing
conflicts of interest that may arise during board meetings.

Chair

Kate Ashbrook

Vice chair

Peter Rookes

Honorary treasurer

Michael Penny

Ordinary trustees

Jonathan Bergwerk

from 14 April 2019

Thelma Brown

from 14 April 2019

Peter Carr

until 14 April 2019

Sophie Clissold-Lesser
Rebecca Dawson

–

The finance and risk committee scrutinise issues
concerning finance, investment, risk and audit; along
with oversight of membership and income generation.

–

The remuneration committee determines the salary
of the chief executive officer and maintains an
overview of the salaries of the senior staff that
fall within its remit.

President

Management and staffing

The president is an honorary position, elected each year
at General Council, and eligible for re-appointment. The
president is not a trustee. Our current president, elected
on 1 April 2017, is Stuart Maconie.

The trustees delegate the day-to-day running of the
Ramblers to the chief executive officer as its chief officer,
supported by a senior leadership team. The chief executive
officer enacts the mission of Ramblers through its unpaid
volunteers and paid staff. Overall, the chief executive leads
a staff that at 30 September 2019 totalled 95 people.

Ronnie Forbes
Richard May
Malcolm McDonnell
Teri Moore

until 14 April 2019
The Ramblers’ senior leadership team in 2018/19 was:

Paul Rhodes
Appointee, Ramblers Cymru

Christopher Hodgson

Appointee, Ramblers Scotland

Alison Mitchell
Jay Wilson

Co-opted trustee

Aynsley Jardin

Chief executive officer

Vanessa Griffiths

until 22 May 2019

Director of services

Beatrice St Matthew-Daniel

from 22 May 2019

Director of operations and volunteering

Rachael Bayley

Director of membership and fundraising

Sarah Marfleet

Director of advocacy and engagement

Tompion Platt

Director of data, digital and technology

Laura Scarlett

Director of Wales

Angela Charlton

Director of Scotland

Jess Dolan

until 24 June 2019

Brendan Paddy

from 18 June 2019

NB Those staff members termed ‘director’ are not directors in accordance with company law.
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Nations

Welsh Council Executive Committee (WCEC) 2018/19

Under our devolution agreements, substantial authority is devolved to our entities in Scotland and Wales. The board
of trustees has delegated authority to committees in Wales and Scotland made up of representatives elected by
each national Council.

President

Will Renwick

Chair

Christopher Hodgson

Scottish Council Executive Committee (SCEC) 2018/19

Vice chair

Gwyn Lewis

until 24 March 2019

George Allingham
Anne Lucas

from 24 March 2019

President

Ben Dolphin

Convener

Alison Mitchell

until 10 March 2019

Honorary treasurer

John Cook

Ronnie Forbes

from 10 March 2019

Honorary secretary

Vacant

since 29 April 2018

Andy Malby

until 10 March 2019

Ordinary members

Diane Davies

until 24 March 2019

Alison Mitchell

from 10 March 2019

Anne Lucas

until 24 March 2019

Vice convener

John Williams

Honorary treasurer

Alistair Cant

Ordinary members

Ronnie Forbes

until 10 March 2019

Stan Winstanley

Elizabeth Lawie

until 10 March 2019

Gwenda Fitzpatrick

from 24 March 2019

Catherine Watt

until 10 March 2019

Denis McAteer

from 24 March 2019

Gwyn Lewis

from 24 March 2019

Gwenda Fitzpatrick

until 24 March 2019

Linda Moyes

Richard Trueman

from 24 March 2019

Douglas Tullis

Dr Ruth Hussey

from 24 March 2019

Trevor Jones
Co-opted member

Elly Macdonald
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Jay Wilson

from 10 March 2019

Kate Nustedt

from 6 August 2019

Meg Wright

from 6 August 2019
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Financial review

Councils, Areas and Groups

Members of the Charity under the Companies Act

The General Council is a body that normally meets annually.
The main functions of this Council are to elect a maximum
of nine trustees to the board, elect the chair and honorary
treasurer, debate and recommend policies to the board and
to receive the annual report and accounts. Each Ramblers
Area is entitled to appoint at least two elected members,
depending on its membership size.

Council members are the formal company members of
the charity and guarantee to contribute an amount not
exceeding £1 to the assets of the charity in the event of
winding up. All the trustees are Council members and
other Council members are admitted in accordance with
Article 18.2 of the Articles of Association of the Ramblers.
The Ramblers also comprises other types of members,
including individual members and local, national and
overseas organisations that affiliate with Ramblers.
These members are not company members for the
purposes of the Companies Act 2006.

The Scottish and Welsh Councils are bodies that normally
meet annually. The main functions of these Councils are
to debate and recommend policies to their executive
committees and/or General Council that are specifically
related to these countries. These Councils are represented
by elected members of the Areas and Groups in each
of these countries. The elected chair/convener of each
Council or their nominee is a trustee.
At local level, activities for members and volunteers are
organised through 485 Groups and 59 Areas. Each Area
and Group operates through its own constitution, but as
part of the overall Ramblers organisation.

Ramblers’ Enterprises Limited
Ramblers’ Enterprises Limited is a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Ramblers’ Association that is
incorporated in England and Wales. Its principal
activities are to undertake commercial activities on
behalf of the Ramblers. Ramblers’ Enterprises Limited
produced a net profit of £24,658 (2018: £29,334),
which will be donated to the Ramblers through Gift Aid.

The financial year ending 30 September 2019, was a period
of financial stability and expansion of the services provided.
The charity benefited from carried forward funds of £11.9m,
which included project underspend from the previous
financial period.
The Ramblers incurred a deficit of £0.7m in the year ending
September 2019 (2018: £3.9m surplus). The deficit is due
to a reduction in income from £14.1m to £10.7m due to the
accounting policy of recognising project funding in the year
of receipt. Much of the deficit is attributed to the carried
forward project income of £3.8m (2018: 0.2m) from the
People’s Post Code Lottery.
Overall, the Ramblers remain in a strong financial position
resulting from good management of our funds, with total
net assets of £11.3m (2018: £11.9m).

Income
In the year to 30 September 2019, the charity’s total income
was £10.7m (2018 £14.1m) a reduction of 24% compared
to the previous financial year. This was in part due to the
£2.3m receipt from the players of People’s Postcode Lottery
in 2018/19 compared to the £5.3m receipt in the 2017/18
financial year.
The Players of People’s Postcode Lottery have supported
the Ramblers since 2016 and our partnership has gone
from strength to strength. The Ramblers benefit from 32%
of proceeds from the draws promoted on our behalf. We
are therefore fortunate and well positioned having been
chosen again as a supported charity receiving additional
funding towards our cause.
Membership income, gift aid, legacies as well as
donations are still the charity’s highest income generator
with membership income increasing by 2% to £2.9m
in the 2018/19 period.
The Ramblers were once again fortunate to benefit
from legacy income of £1.3m (2018: £1.6m).

16,000

14,128

Structure, governance and management

2018 (actual £’000s)
2019 (actual £’000s)

10,670

14,000
12,000

115

27

444

460

823

721

674

1,056

1,291

2,000

1,647

2,098

2,075

2,946

4,000

2,875

6,000

2,279

8,000

5,267

10,000

0
Fundraising
raffles

NB Those staff members termed ‘Director’ are not Directors in accordance with company law.
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Membership
subscriptions

Areas and
Group
walking
activities

Legacies

Other
charitable
activities

Donations
and Gift Aid

Other trading
activities

Investments

Total income

Financial review

12,000

2018 (actual £’000s)
2019 (actual £’000s)

11,280

14,000

11,940

The increase in expenditure relating to these activities
include rolling out new rights of way roadshow training,
revamping rights of way web guidance, as well as engaging
volunteers in the restoration of historical paths and raising
the profile of the Ramblers by engaging with volunteers
and local authorities.

8,000

4,000
2,000

1,879

6,000

7,156

6,768

10,000

Included in both income and expenditure is cash collected
locally from members, to pay for activities organised
by Areas and Groups on behalf of their members, and
the corresponding expenditure. These activities include
holidays, day walks and socials. Total income was £2.1m
(2018: £2.1m), and expenditure £2.3m (2018: £2.3m).

2,909

In 2018/19, there has been an increase of £0.3m in raising
funds to £1.0m (2018: £0.6m). This increase is due to the
development of a strategic approach to fundraising at the
Ramblers, to enable the growth of sustainable and diverse
income streams.

The charity’s reserves have decreased by 5% to £11.3m (2018: £11.9m).

1,250

Promoting walking, which includes Area and Group
walking activities as well as programmes and promotion,
continues to be the Ramblers largest area of expenditure
at £6.4m (2018: £6.7m).

Reserves

1,304

Total expenditure increased by £1.2m to £11.4m (2017:
£10.1m) as expected due to deferred project spends.

Combined spending on our other charitable activities
(rights of way, freedom to roam and countryside
protection), was £4.0m (2018: £2.8 m).

995

Expenditure

959
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0

12,000

2018 (actual £’000s)

4,382

8,000

2,329

2,301

1,813

1,303

1,109

847

960
634

670

4,000

1,096

6,000

4,062

2019 (actual £’000s)

10,000

2,000

11,369

10,137

Permanent endowment

0
Countryside
protection

Raising funds

Freedom
to roam

Rights of Way

Area and Group
walking activities

Programme
and promotion

Restricted
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Designated fund

Total funds

Reserves policy

Designated funds

The Board of Trustees has examined the charity’s
requirements for reserves, considering the main risks
facing the organisation and taking into consideration
the Charity Commission guidance CC19 – Charity
Reserves – Building Resilience, and agreed that the
Ramblers should seek to maintain a level of free reserves
of between three to six-months establishment and
core staff costs. This currently equates to a range
of £1.2m-£2.4m.

Designated funds – management of local reserves.

The policy is reviewed annually by the Board of Trustees
as part of the budget process and monitored regularly
within monthly management accounts.

To assist Areas and Groups in monitoring their main
fund reserves, Ramblers GB carries out an annual reserves
review. A traffic light system is used to indicate whether
an Area or Group has exceeded the recommended
percentage they should hold. Areas, Groups and Councils
are recommended to hold unrestricted reserves between
a target range of 40% and 100% of annual expenditure.

Total expenditure

Free reserves are usually higher than target reserves due
to the historic management of legacies where all legacies
are accumulated before planned expenditure takes place.
The trustees are keen to use accumulated reserves for
capacity building projects with targeted outcomes.
Our total free reserves as of 30 September 2019
is £1.9m (2018: £2.9m).
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Unrestricted reserves held by Areas, Groups and
Councils are shown as designated within the balance
sheet. They represent 12.0% of total funds (2018: 11.4%).
Main funds as well as self-funded monies have increased
in the 12 months to 30 September 2019.
Designated funds have increased by 6% (2018: 1.2%).

Financial review

Financial review

Where reserves are held outside the target range,
Ramblers GB will recommend that each Area or Group
should plan to reduce reserves levels. Section FIN011 of
the Treasurers’ handbook sets out how Areas and Groups
should spend reserves in support of charitable objectives.

Traffic light criteria used for monitoring:
–

Green: reserves held are less than
100% of one year of expenditure;

–

Amber: reserves held are between
100%-200% of annual expenditure;

–

Overall the trustees consider that the methods of reserve
management described above create target levels of
reserves that straddle the following scenarios; neither
too low to manage under unplanned scenarios nor
too high as to tie up reserves from mission delivery.

Red: reserves held are more than
200% of annual expenditure.

Designated legal fund

Designated – Tapestry programme fund £81,000

The GB and devolved legal funds stand at £250,000
(2018: £215,000).

The Tapestry programme is a series of linked projects
designed to review and update all our information and
communications technology. The programme includes
both technology and process improvements.

The legal funds for Wales and Scotland at year end
remain at £25,000 each in accordance with the devolution
arrangements. Furthermore, the trustees agreed the
transfer of £200,000 to the GB legal fund, to ensure
it remains “topped up” and available to use.

plans made to generate additional income
e.g. through fundraising activity

The fund will continue to hold up to a maximum balance
of £250,000 and the trustees will continue to review
these funds annually and replenish it commensurate
with the needs of Ramblers across GB and dependent
on prevailing financial circumstances and resources.

–

budgeted funding request for the coming
year to be increased

Designated – the players of People’s Postcode
Lottery fund £3.9m.

–

loan taken out from Area/GB office (where
reduced reserves position is only short-term)

This fund represents the balance carried forward from
all projects supported by the players of People’s Postcode
Lottery in 2017/18 financial period, plus additional draws
valued at £2.3m in this financial period. These funds will
be used to deliver projects outlined in the “Use of funds”
as agreed in the application process.

8,000

2018 (actual £’000s)

7,000

2019 (actual £’000s)

7,156

–

6,769

Where main funds are found to be below the
target range, the following options are available:

This designated fund was set up to reflect the illiquid nature
of these assets as they are not available to cover general
expenditure with the balance representing the difference
between additions and depreciation during the year.

6,000

4,000

3,864

3,806

5,000

Designated – fixed asset fund £1.4m

Designated – office refurbishment fund £130,000
To allow for greater transparency, this fund, which
was part of general reserves and was set up to fund
the installation of air conditioning and ventilation units
in Camelford House, as well as general refurbishment
of the office following lease extension.

130

1,359

1,362

81

247

250

215

75

1,000

109

2,000

1,396

1,030

3,000

0
Other

52

Legal fund

Ramblers Annual Review 2018/19

Tapestry

Fixed assets

Areas and
Groups

PPL

Office
refurbishment

Total
designated
funds
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Designated – brand development £21,000
The fund was set up to support the development
of the Ramblers brand with the aim of establishing
a positioning and brand framework for the charity.
Permanent endowment
This relates to a legacy received for which the use of
the funds has been restricted. The bequest states that
the capital should remain in a trust and income generated
by the trust to be paid to Ramblers in perpetuity. This
income should be used for the protection, preservation
and maintenance of public footpaths in the open
countryside and to defend its beauty.
Restricted reserves
These reserves represent the balance of legacies
or project monies received which are unspent at the
balance sheet date. Their use is restricted by the terms
of a legacy or external funding agreement.
Risk management
The trustees acknowledge that risk is an everyday part
of charitable activity and managing it effectively is essential
if the Ramblers are to achieve its charitable objectives
and safeguard the charity’s funds and assets.
The charity’s risk management policy objectives are to:
–

embed risk management into the culture of the Ramblers;

–

integrate risk management into policy, planning and
decision making;

–

enable the Ramblers to anticipate and respond to
changing social, environmental and legislative conditions.

Financial review

The trustees have agreed the following process to review
and assess the major risks to which the Ramblers is
exposed, in order to satisfy themselves that systems or
procedures are established in order to manage those risks.
–

–

Financial review

people development, recruitment and onboarding, staff
engagement and communications as well as wellbeing;
–

 n organisational risk register is maintained to capture
A
and assess the ongoing risks faced by the Ramblers
and to assess their impact and likelihood.
 he risk register, co-ordinated by the director of
T
services, is kept under quarterly review and updated
by the senior leadership team (SLT). This involves
monitoring existing risks, identifying and logging any
new risks, and applying/moderating the risk score for
each, based on agreed criteria (likelihood v impact).
Actions that can be taken to mitigate each risk are
identified and recorded.

–

failure to innovate at pace. This risk is being addressed
with the delivery of a new business plan from 2020,
which incorporates including new investment priorities,
delivery of new membership & fundraising growth
strategies and the development of new products for
independent walkers e.g. online routes;
 dverse publicity in the media or on social media.
a
This risk is being addressed by the implementation
of a complaint’s procedures (both internal and external)
as well as reviewing procedures for complaints,
reviewing the charity’s crisis management strategy
and conducting regular media monitoring.

Coronavirus - Additional risks
–

–

 he risk register is reviewed quarterly by the finance
T
and risk committee and quarterly by the board of
trustees. The risk register is also considered and
reviewed as part of our annual business planning cycle.
 he finance and risk committee, a sub-committee
T
of the board, has delegated responsibility to review
risk management processes. This includes monitoring
the assessment of risks to which the Ramblers is
exposed to ensure that management monitor and
report on emerging risks and implement controls
to mitigate these risks; and monitoring implementation
of measures agreed necessary to effectively manage
key risks.

The trustees have identified several risks which they
consider to be important for the charity:
–

–
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failure to grow core membership. This risk is being
addressed by the development of a membership
growth strategy and by using evidence to refine
a rolling 5-year income growth model;
failure to recruit, retain and motivate a high-quality
staff team leading to poor performance and loss of
organisational knowledge. This risk is being addressed
by strengthening the human resources department and
the development of a people plan which underpins the
charity’s values whilst addressing key areas such as
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–

–

Fundraising income will decline due to fundraising
activities being paused. Plans are in place to evolve
individual giving with the summer campaign to appeal
to existing supporters. There will also be regular
reviews of the charity’s expenditure to mitigate
income decline.
Volunteers are unable to deliver local Ramblers
activities. While group walks and activities have been
cancelled, the Ramblers has communicated to Area
& Group volunteers on the local implementation of
government and NHS guidance. The charity has kept
volunteers and members informed through statements
on the Ramblers’ website as well as through the new
volunteer website (Assemble) There are plans for
support to Groups and schemes for when restrictions/
guidance change.

The trustees are satisfied that systems have been
developed and are in place to mitigate identified risks
to an acceptable level.
Fundraising
The Ramblers is registered with the Fundraising Regulator
and always remains committed to meeting best practice
fundraising standards and adhering to the Code of
Fundraising Practice and as such we follow all relevant

guidelines and advice. Supporters and their needs are
at the heart of our fundraising activities. To protect and
maintain the high standards that we and the public
expect, we ensure that professional fundraisers adhere
to our policies and practices, with particular attention
paid to vulnerable people.
The core of our fundraising strategy is delivered internally
by our team of professional fundraisers and relationship
managers and from time to time we will work with external
consultants, agencies and other professional fundraising
services to complement our fundraising activity. In the
last business year this was limited to our work with a third
party (People’s Postcode Lottery) appointed as our External
Lottery Manager, a professional Telephone Fundraising
Agency (Stratcom UK), our Creative Agency (Different
Kettle) and a small number of other external consultants,
design and print agencies. We closely monitor and review
the activities of all third parties to ensure compliance
and quality standards are always met.
In the last year, we have conducted a range of direct
marketing activity including direct mail appeals, digital
appeals and donor acquisition, email marketing and
telephone fundraising.
We comply with all data protection requirements under
GDPR and PECA and will action any requests for no
further contact we receive directly or through the
Fundraising Preference Service.
Last year we received 21 complaints related to our
fundraising activities directly to the Ramblers and
no complaints via the Fundraising Regulator.
Equality and diversity
The Ramblers welcomes and supports the diversity of
the community we serve, the volunteers and members
we support and the people we employ. Our diversity is
our strength; our employees and volunteers reflect the
community in which we work and for whom we work;
and our policies, practices and procedures reflect our
constant striving for excellence. The Ramblers will do
its best to integrate good equality practice into all that
we say and do. We promote the principles of equality
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and diversity in our undertakings with all our stakeholders,
ensuring as far as possible a common approach
on joint undertakings.
Related party
The work of the Ramblers is supported by Ramblers’
Enterprises Limited (company number 03033217).
Ramblers’ Enterprises Limited carries out non-charitable
trading activities to raise funds for supporting The
Ramblers’ Association. The primary activities in the
reporting period related to a commercial partnership
with Cotswold Outdoors. Two of the trustees are
also directors of Ramblers’ Enterprises Limited.
Going concern
The trustees have reviewed the Ramblers’ revised activities
and updated budget for the next two years taking into
account the current coronavirus crisis, as well as the
principal financial risks. We have considered our three major
income streams:
Donations and legacies – our legacy income is based on
a ten-year average and we remain cautious in our predictions,
we therefore do not foresee a significant drop-in legacy
income. We anticipate a potential reduction in membership
fees and our priority is to retain our existing members.
Other trading activities – we have had notifications from
our external funders and have been assured that they will
continue to fund us through this crisis and beyond. We are
therefore confident that there will be no material changes
to our trading activities.
Charitable activities – whilst our led walks and routes
have been paused and cannot be promoted during this
crisis, we anticipate that our income will reduce in line with
expenditure and there will be no material changes to the
reserves of our areas and groups.
The trustees believe there is a reasonable expectation that
the Charity has sufficient resources to continue operating
for the foreseeable future and will continue to review and
revised our on-going activities. For this reason, we continue
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the accounts.

Statement of trustees’ responsibilities

The trustees are responsible for preparing the
trustees’ report (incorporating a strategic report)
and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.
Company and charity law requires the trustees
to prepare financial statements for each financial
year in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards) and applicable law.
Under company law the trustees must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the charitable company and of its net incoming resources
for that period. In preparing these financial statements,
the trustees are required to:
–

–
–

–

–

select suitable accounting policies and then
apply them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in FRS102;
make judgments and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable accounting standards
have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and
prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the charitable company will continue to operate.

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the charitable company’s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the charitable company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006, the Charities
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006
(as amended) and the provisions of the charitable
company’s constitution. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Independent auditor’s report to the
members of The Ramblers’ Association
Opinion

Basis for opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Ramblers’
Association for the year ended 30 September 2019 which
comprise the statement of financial activities, balance
sheet, cash flow statement and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable by law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the charitable company in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements:
The trustees are responsible for the maintenance
and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the charity’s website.
The trustees, as company directors, have confirmed
that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the charity’s auditors are
unaware, and that they have each taken all the steps
that they ought to have taken as trustees/directors in
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to ensure that the charity’s auditors
are aware of that information.

Conclusions relating to going concern
–

–

have been properly prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

–

have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act
2005 and Regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2006.

The trustees’ annual report, as prepared under the
Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006,
was approved by the Board of Trustees on 20 May
2020, including in their capacity as company directors
approving the directors’ and strategic reports contained
therein, and is signed as authorised on its behalf by:

Kate Ashbrook
Chair, Board of Trustees

Michael Penny
Honorary Treasurer
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give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable
company’s affairs as at 30 September 2019 and of
its incoming resources and application of resources,
including its income and expenditure for the year
then ended;

57

We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us
to report to you where:
–

the trustees’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

–

the trustees have not disclosed in the financial
statements any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the charitable
company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting for a period of at
least twelve months from the date when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of The Ramblers’ Association

Other information

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

The trustees are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, other than the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the
charitable company and its environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we have not identified material
misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’
report included within the trustees’ report.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements,
we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations
2006 require us to report to you if, in our opinion:
–

adequate and proper accounting records have
not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited
by us; or

–

the financial statements are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

–

certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration
specified by law are not made; or

–
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed
by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken
in the course of our audit
–

the information given in the trustees’ report,
which includes the directors’ report and the
strategic report prepared for the purposes of
company law, for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

–

the strategic report and the directors’ report included
within the trustees’ report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our audit.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of The Ramblers’ Association

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements
We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)
(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act
2005 and under the Companies Act 2006 and report in
accordance with the Acts and relevant regulations made
or having effect thereunder.
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements is located
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Responsibilities of trustees
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities
statement set out on page 58. The trustees (who are also
the directors of the charitable company for the purposes
of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are
responsible for assessing the charitable company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either
intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Use of our report
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, and to the charitable
company’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with
Regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the charitable company’s
members and trustees those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the charitable company, the charitable company’s
members as a body and the charitable company’s
trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

Tina Allison
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of Crowe U.K. LLP
Statutory Auditor, London

9 June 2020

Statement of financial activities

Statement of financial activities

2019
Note

2018

Restricted

Endowment

Unrestricted

Total Funds

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Income and endowments
Donations and legacies

Note

Restricted

Endowment

Unrestricted

Total Funds

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

2

75

–

5,168

5,243

Other trading activities

3

14

–

5,713

5,727

Investments

4

3

–

24

27

Area and Group walking activities

5

–

–

2,075

2,075

Income and endowments
2

96

–

4,964

5,060

Charitable activities

Donations and legacies
Charitable activities

Other trading activities

3

33

–

2,690

2,723

Investments

4

24

–

91

115

Area and Group walking activities

5

–

–

2,098

2,098

Walking for health

5

58

–

–

58

Walking for health

5

358

–

–

358

Funded projects – mission delivery

5

316

–

300

616

Funded projects – mission delivery

5

397

–

301

698

527

–

10,143

10,670

847

–

13,281

14,128

Total income and endowments
Expenditure on

Expenditure on

Raising funds

6

–

–

960

960

Charitable activities

6

633

–

9,776

10,409

633

–

10,736

11,369

(3)

36

6

39

(109)

36

(587)

(660)

Total expenditure
Net gains/(losses) on investments

Total income and endowments

11

Net income/(expenditure)

Raising funds

6

6

–

628

634

Charitable activities

6

849

–

8,654

9,503

855

–

9,282

10,137

1

–

5

6

(7)

–

4,004

3,997

Total expenditure
Net gains/(losses) on investments

11

Net income/(expenditure)

Transfers between funds

18

55

–

(55)

–

Transfers between funds

18

9

–

(9)

–

Net movement in funds

–

(54)

36

(642)

(660)

Net movement in funds

–

2

–

3,995

3,997

Reconciliation of funds

–

–

–

–

–

Reconciliation of funds

–

–

–

–

–

Total funds brought forward

18

1,304

959

9,677

11,940

Total funds brought forward

18

1,302

959

5,682

7,943

Total funds carried forward

18

1,250

995

9,035

11,280

Total funds carried forward

18

1,304

959

9,677

11,940

All the above are derived from continuing activities. There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above.

All the above are derived from continuing activities. There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above.

2019

2018

£000

£000

Statement of total income (excluding endowment funds)
Restricted income

527

Restricted income

847

Unrestricted income

10,143

Unrestricted income

13,281

Total income

10,670

Total income

14,128

Total expenditure

11,369

Total expenditure

10,137

Operating surplus

(699)

Operating surplus

3,991

Restricted and unrestricted gains
Total net income
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Statement of total income (excluding endowment funds)
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3
(696)

Restricted and unrestricted gains
Total net income

61

6
3,997

Balance sheet

Cash flow statement

Note

2019

2018

£000

£000

Note

Cash flow from operating activities

Fixed assets

2019

2018

£000

£000

(101)

3,591

Intangible assets

10

1,019

513

Cash flow from investment activities

Tangible assets

10

377

402

Dividends and interest received

4

115

27

Investments

11

1,786

1,744

Purchase of fixed assets

10

(802)

(700)

3,182

2,659

Sale of investments

11

–

–

Purchase of investments

11

(3)

(10)

(690)

(683)

–

–

–

–

(791)

2,908

2019

2018

£000

£000

(660)

3,997

Total fixed assets
Current assets

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investment activities

Stock

12

32

39

Debtors

13

2,331

2,687

Cash at bank and in hand: Central

5,295

6,051

Cash at bank and in hand: Areas, Group and Councils

1,351

1,386

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

9,009

10,163

Change in cash and cash equivalent in the reporting period

835

806

Net current assets

8,174

9,357

Total assets less current liabilities

11,356

12,016

76

76

11,280

11,940

995

959

1,250

1,304

General funds

1,879

2,909

Designated funds

7,156

6,768

11,280

11,940

Total current assets
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Provisions for liabilities and charges

14

15

Total net assets

Cash flow from financing activities
Additions to endowments

Reconciliation of net incoming to net cash flow from operating activities

Note

Net (expenditure)/income for the reporting period

Funds
Endowment funds

18

Restricted income funds

Approved and authorised by the trustees on 20 May 2020 and signed on their behalf by:

Depreciation

10

321

185

Investment income

4

(115)

(27)

–

6

Loss on the sale of fixed assets
Decrease in stock

12

7

(3)

Net loss/(gain) on investment

11

(39)

(6)

Increase in debtors

13

356

(643)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors

14

29

82

Decrease in provisions

15

–

–

(101)

3,591

2019

2018

Cash
flow

At 30
September

At 1
October

Cash: Central

(756)

5,295

6,051

Cash: Areas, Groups and Council

(35)

1,351

1,386

Total cash and cash equivalent

(791)

6,646

7,437

Unrestricted funds

Total funds

11

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities
Analysis of cash and cash equivalent

Kate Ashbrook
Chair, Board of Trustees
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Michael Penny
Honorary Treasurer
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Notes to the financial statements

Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies

b) Incoming resources

c) Resources expended

The Ramblers Association is a charitable company
limited by guarantee, incorporated in England and
Wales (charity no,1093577, company no. 4458492)
and registered in Scotland (charity no. SC039799).
Our registered office is: 2nd Floor Camelford House,
87-90 Albert Embankment, London, SE1 7TW.

Membership income (including life membership
subscriptions) is accounted for when received
as it is considered to be substantially a donation.
No provision is made for unexpired memberships
at the year-end.

Resources expended are recognised in the period in
which they are incurred. Resources expended include
attributable VAT which cannot be recovered.

a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the charities Statement of Recommended
Practice (FRS102) applicable to charities preparing their
accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland
and the Charities Act 2011 and the Charities and Trustees
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 and UK Generally Accepted
Practice as it applies from 1 January 2015.
The Ramblers Association meets the definition
of a public benefit entity as defined by FRS102.
As detailed in the trustees’ report, the trustees have
reviewed the future activities and planned performance
of the Charity and confirm that it remains appropriate
to prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis, under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of listed investments.

Gift Aid on membership income and donations
is recognised in line with receipt of the subscription
or donation where a valid Gift Aid declaration exists.
Legacies are recognised in the financial statements
only upon the granting of probate provided there is
probability of legal entitlement and a reliable estimate can
be obtained on notifications received before the year-end.
Grants are recognised in the statement of financial
activities when the charity can demonstrate entitlement
to the income.
Investment income is accounted for when received except
for our permanent endowment which is accounted for on
an accruals basis. Income from our permanent endowment
is split equally between restricted and unrestricted funds.
Donated services and gifts in kind are included as income
and appropriate expenditure at the value to the charity,
where material.
Other income is accounted for on an accruals basis.

The activities of the Areas, Groups, Scottish and Welsh
councils, together with their assets, are included within
these accounts. Income and expenditure are accounted
for on a cash basis, as the net effect of bringing in debtors
and creditors at the year end is not material. Expenditure
is allocated to descriptive headings which are then
aggregated into the relevant expenditure categories.
The results of Ramblers’ Enterprises Limited, the
trading subsidiary of The Ramblers’ Association, are not
consolidated on the grounds that they are not material.
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All income within Areas, Groups, Scottish and Welsh
council is accounted for on a cash basis as explained
in section A.

GB office support costs are fully absorbed to the charity’s
activities in accordance with the Charities SORP. Support
costs comprise costs incurred directly in support of
expenditure on the charitable objects, and include finance,
human resource, information technology and administration
costs, membership servicing, governance and the costs
of the chief executive’s office. These costs have been
apportioned to the charity’s activities based on the
full-time equivalent staff time carrying out these activities.
The cost of raising funds includes the costs incurred in
raising funds such as donations and legacies, and costs
to promote and market membership.

Permanent Endowment – This was established as a result
of us receiving a legacy where the terms of the gift specifies
that the capital amount should remain in a trust and for the
Ramblers to be the sole beneficiary in perpetuity. See note
18 section J.
Permanent Endowment – This was established as a result
of us receiving a legacy where the terms of the gift specifies
that the capital amount should remain in a trust and for the
Ramblers to be the sole beneficiary in perpetuity. See note
18 section J.
e) Assets
Intangible fixed assets costing more than £5,000 are
capitalised at cost. Intangible fixed assets include
software costs. Amortisation of intangible fixed assets
is applied if they are brought into use by year-end and
calculated over their estimated useful lives of five years.

Governance costs include the costs associated with
the governance of the charity as a whole and includes
the costs of the charity’s general council (AGM),
meetings and servicing of the Board of Trustees and
its sub-committees, the costs of the charity’s Areas,
Groups and councils’ governance, the costs of audit,
and compliance with legal and statutory requirements.

Tangible fixed assets costing more than £5,000 are
capitalised at cost. Depreciation of fixed assets is applied
if they are brought into use by year-end and calculated
based on their estimated useful lives, on a straight-line
basis as follows:

d) Funds

Freehold properties

Unrestricted funds are donations and other incoming
resources received or generated for charitable purposes.
Unrestricted income received in advance for a specified
future period is deferred until the service or activity
is undertaken.

Office furnishings and equipment

5 years

IT and systems			

5 years

Designated funds are unrestricted funds earmarked
by the Board of Trustees for particular purposes and
include unrestricted reserves held by the charity’s
Areas, Groups and Councils.
Restricted funds are to be used for specific purposes as
laid down by the donor. Direct expenditure which meets
these criteria is charged to the fund as incurred. Where
allowed by the terms of the fund, a proportion of overheads
and salary costs are allocated to the fund based on the
amount of staff time spent working on the project.
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Freehold land

Nil
20 years

Investments are stated at valuation at the balance sheet
date, except for shareholdings in unlisted investments
which are stated at cost. Realised and unrealised gains
or losses on investments are shown on the statement
of financial activities.
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Notes to the financial statements

Notes to the financial statements

f) Operating leases

i) Key judgements

Rentals payable under operating leases, where
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
remain with the lessor, are charged to the statement
of financial activities in the year in which they fall due.

The preparation of the financial statements requires
judgement, estimates and assumptions to be made that
affect the reported values of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses. The key sources of estimation uncertainty
that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements are described in the accounting
policies and includes provisions for dilapidations and
accrual for legacy income.

g) Pension scheme
From 1 July 2014, all members of staff were auto-enrolled
into a group personal pension plan with Legal & General.
Pension contributions are charged to the statement of
financial activities when due.
h) Financial instruments
The Ramblers has financial assets and financial liabilities
of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments.
Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at
transaction value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Financial
assets held at amortised cost comprise cash at bank
and in hand, short-term cash deposits and debtors
excluding prepayments and income tax recoverable.
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost is comprised
of creditors excluding income received in advance,
taxation and social security.
Investments held as part of an investment portfolio are
held at fair value at the balance sheet date, with gains and
losses being recognised within income and expenditure.

j) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Ramblers’ has a
present legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Provisions are, measured
at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as an interest expenditure.

Areas, Groups
and Councils

Central

2019

2018

Restricted

Unrestricted

Restricted

Permanent
endowment

Unrestricted

Total

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Membership
subscription

–

–

–

–

2,946

2,946

2,875

Legacies

–

7

14

–

1,270

1,291

1,647

Donations

17

54

65

–

161

297

185

–

–

–

–

526

526

536

17

61

79

–

4,903

5,060

5,243

Publishing and
book sales

–

51

–

–

301

352

354

Fundraising raffles

–

8

–

–

2,271

2,279

5,267

Commissions

–

–

–

–

2

2

12

Rental incomes

–

–

–

–

–

–

1

Miscellaneous

33

30

–

–

27

90

93

33

89

–

–

2,601

2,723

5,727

Deposit interest
earned

1

1

–

–

13

15

4

Dividends and other
investment income

–

12

23

–

65

100

23

1

13

23

–

78

115

27

Promoting walking
Areas and Group
walking activities

–

2,098

–

–

–

2,098

2,075

Walking for health

–

–

58

–

–

58

358

Funded projects –
government (note 18)

–

–

–

–

–

–

137

Funded projects –
mission delivery

6

297

310

–

3

616

561

6

2,395

368

–

3

2,772

3,131

57

2,558

470

–

7,610

10,670

14,128

2. Donations and legacies

Gift Aid

3. Other trading activities

4. Investment income

5. Charitable activities

Total income
and endowments
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The People’s Postcode Lottery was appointed as the
Charity’s external lottery manager to run lotteries on our
behalf. Only the net proceeds of these lotteries are included
in the statutory accounts as income as this best reflects
the impact of this income on our operations.

The estimated value of legacies where probate has been
granted but formal notification from solicitors has not been
received is £851,000 (2018: £286,000). This has not been
included in legacy income for the year.

2019

2018

Restricted

Permanent
endowment

Unrestricted

Total

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Gross proceeds

–

–

7,098

7,098

16,698

Expenses

–

–

(1,990)

(1,990)

(6,663)

Prize funds

–

–

(2,837)

(2,837)

(4,774)

Net proceeds received
by the charity

–

–

2,271

2,271

5,261

Promoting walking – Area and Group walking activities
are costs relating to holidays, coach rambles and
social events organised by Ramblers’ Areas and
Groups. The related income from these activities
included incoming resources from charitable activities.
Promoting walking – Programmes and promotions relates
to the organising of local and national walking programmes
and the promotion of walking to various audiences.

Central

2019

2018

Staff costs

Raising funds

Other costs

2019

2018

Restricted

Unrestricted

Restricted

Unrestricted

Total

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

–

310

–

287

597

327

Cost of charitable activities:

Restricted

Unrestricted

Restricted

Unrestricted

Total

Total

Rights of way

24

511

60

480

1,075

758

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Countryside protection

3

313

21

340

677

414

–

–

–

960

960

634

Freedom to roam

2

321

20

343

686

508

Promoting walking

177

1,039

185

645

2,046

2,061

206

2,494

286

2,095

5,081

4,068

Raising funds
Cost of charitable activities:
Rights of way

23

74

92

1,624

1,813

1,303

Countryside protection

23

6

31

1,036

1,096

670

Freedom to roam

23

6

29

1,051

1,109

847

Promoting walking

–

–

–

–

–

Area and Group
walking activities

–

2,329

–

–

2,329

2,301

Programmes
and promotion

35

539

377

3,111

4,062

4,382

Total costs of
charitable activities

104

2,954

529

6,822

10,409

9,503

Total 2019

104

2,954

529

7,782

11,369

10,137

Total 2018

84

2,903

771

6,379

10,137

–
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The following page provides a more detailed
breakdown of GB central direct and support costs
totalling £8,311,000 (2018: £7,150,000), analysed
across activities and split between staff and non-staff
costs. Further analysis is provided between restricted
expenditure, for which the donor has specified how
funds are to be used, and unrestricted expenditure
which carry no specific restrictions.

a) Central direct costs

6. Total expenditure
Areas, Groups
and Councils

The previous figures include GB central office support
costs which have been apportioned to headings on
the basis of direct staff time employed in carrying
out each activity.
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b) Allocated central support costs

7. Net incoming resources for the year

Staff costs

Other costs

2019

2018

Restricted

Unrestricted

Restricted

Unrestricted

Total

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

–

157

–

206

363

307

Raising funds

£000s

£000s

25

26

–

–

239

236

6

6

321

184

2019

2018

£000s

£000s

3,414

3,165

Employers national insurance

355

320

Employers pension contributions

235

194

Other staff costs

238

216

Accrued holiday

4

(14)

Redundancy costs

33

12

4,279

3,893

Auditors remuneration
Audit

Rights of way

–

314

7

320

641

466

Countryside protection

–

176

7

207

390

228

Freedom to roam

–

177

7

210

394

311

755

15

673

1,443

1,770

–

1,578

36

1,616

3,230

3,082

206

4,072

322

3,711

8,311

7,150

Promoting walking

Grand total

2018

This is stated after charging:

Cost of charitable activities:

Total support costs

2019

Other external scrutiny
Operating lease rentals
Property
Other
Depreciation (note 10)

8. Staff costs and numbers

Included in promoting walking above are grant payments made to various organisations in Wales from funding received
from the Welsh government as part of the Lets Walk Cymru project.
Staff costs were as follows:
c) Central support costs

Gross salaries
2019

2018

£000s

£000s

Central office support costs comprise the following:
Management, including the chief executives office

235

227

1,305

1,166

Information technology

874

798

The following number of staff have emoluments above £60,000

Membership servicing and development

304

372

60,000 – 69,999

4

1

Governance

454

469

70,000 – 79,999

–

–

Welsh office administration

86

115

80,000 – 89,999

–

1

Scottish office administration

95

59

90,000 – 99,999

1

–

3,353

3,206

100,000 – 109,999

1

–

Finance, administration and human resources

The apportionment of the above support costs across activities, including the four charitable activities, is provided on the
previous page.

The total pension contribution in respect of higher paid staff was £40,338 (2018: £13,584).
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The key management of the charity is made up of the chief executive officer and seven directors (directors of advocacy
and engagement, services, operations and volunteering, membership and fundraising, digital data transformation, Wales
and Scotland). The total employee benefits of the senior leadership team in the year was £674,000 (2018: £578,000).

9. Taxation

No trustee received any remuneration or payment of any kind except for reimbursement for attending meetings.
See note 21 for further details.

10. Fixed assets

The charity is exempt from corporation tax as all its income is charitable and is applied for charitable purposes.

a) Intangible fixed asset
Staff costs include a total of £32,677 of redundancy payments during the year (2018: £12,279). At 30 September 2019
£13,474 was owed (2018: £NIL)

Staff headcount

2019

2018

Total

Total

88

88

The average number of employees, calculated on a full-time equivalent basis, analysed by function was:

2019

2018

Assets under
construction

IT and
systems

Total

£000

£000

£000

At the beginning of the year

90

1,167

1,257

Additions in year

3

796

799

Transfers in year

(90)

90

–

At the end of the year

3

2,053

2,056

At the beginning of the year

–

744

744

Disposals in year

–

–

–

Cost

Depreciation

Total

Total

Direct core charitable activities

57

58

Charge for the year

–

293

293

Direct funded charitable activities

20

20

At the end of the year

–

1,037

1,037

Governance

3

2

Fundraising

5

3

Net book value

85

83

At the end of the year

3

1,016

1,019

At the beginning of the year

90

423

513
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b) Tangible fixed assets

11. Investments
Land and
buildings

Office
furnishings
and equipment

IT and
systems

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

2019

2018

£000s

£000s

1,744

1,727

Additions

3

10

Transfer from cash withdrawl

–

–

39

7

1,786

1,744

Held centrally

995

959

Held by Areas and Groups

96

90

3

3

177

180

515

512

1,786

1,744

1,548

1,545

At the start of the year

Cost
At the beginning of the year

343

79

83

505

Additions in year

–

–

3

3

Disposals in year

–

–

–

–

At the end of the year

343

79

86

508

Valuation at the end of the year

Comprising:

Depreciation
At the beginning of the year

Gain/(loss) on revaluation at the end of the year

26

60

17

103

Disposals in year

–

–

–

–

Charge for the year

5

6

17

28

At the end of the year

31

66

34

131

UK listed investments, at market value

UK non-listed investments, valued at cost
Net book value

–

–

–

–

At the end of the year

312

13

52

377

At the beginning of the year

317

19

66

402

Held centrally
Held by Areas and Groups

Cash
Held centrally

All fixed assets are used for direct charitable purposes. Only items costing over £5,000 are capitalised and only those
brought into use by the year-end are depreciated.
Cost at the end of the year

In addition to the investments above, the Ramblers’ Association owns all the share capital (£2) of Ramblers Enterprises
Limited, a company registered in England and Wales (see note 16).
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12. Stock

15. Provisions
2019

2018

2019

2018

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

32

39

76

76

Addition

–

–

Charge for the year

–

–

76

76

Stocks held by Areas and Groups

Balance brought forward

Stocks held relate to finished goods in the form of publications.

13. Debtors

Total provisions for liabilities and charges
2019

2018

£000s

£000s

–

117

Grants – Ramblers Holidays Charitable Trust

70

–

Income tax recoverable

195

461

1,231

1,241

Sundry debtors

554

603

Staff loans

16

12

Prepayments

231

253

Amounts due from trading subsidiary

34

–

2,331

2,687

Grants – Macmillan

Legacies

Dilapidations

16. The Ramblers Enterprises Limited
Ramblers’ Enterprises Limited, a private limited company (no: 3033217) registered in England and Wales, is a wholly
owned subsidiary of The Ramblers’ Association. The registered address is 2nd floor Camelford House, 87-90 Albert
Embankment, London, SE1 7TW.
During the year Ramblers’ Enterprises Limited received commission from Cotswold Outdoors for commission
on sales to members of the Ramblers Association.
The results of Ramblers’ enterprises Limited are not consolidated with the results of the Ramblers’ Association
on the grounds they are not material.
A summary of the financial activities of Ramblers; enterprises Limited for 2018/19, and financial position as at
30 September 2019 are provided below.
2019

2018

£000s

£000s

Turnover

27

32

Administrative costs

(2)

(2)

25

30

–

–

14. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2019

2018

Profit and loss

£000s

£000s

2

19

Profit on ordinary activities before tax

Taxation and social security (PAYE and National Insurance)

140

121

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Trade creditors

453

517

Profit on ordinary activities after tax

25

30

Holiday accrual

100

96

Prior year adjustment

30

34

Accruals

140

53

Retained profit brought forward (restated)

30

34

835

806

Gift Aid donation

(30)

34

Retained profit carried forward

25

30

Income received in advance
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18. Movements in funds
17. Analysis of net assets between funds
2019

2018

2019

2018

Incoming
resources
and gains

Less:
outgoing
resources

Transfers

At 30
September

At 1
October

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

53

89

–

297

333

Permanent
endowments

Restricted
funds

Designated
funds

General
funds

Total
funds

Total
funds

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Restricted funds

Fixed assets

–

–

1,396

–

1,396

915

a) Areas, Groups and Councils

Investments

995

–

–

761

1,786

1,744

b) Lets Walk Cymru

–

64

45

9

28

Net current assets

–

1,250

5,760

1,164

8,174

9,357

c) Pathwatch

–

19

–

40

59

Provisions

–

–

–

(76)

(76)

(76)

d) Medal routes

15

(2)

–

17

–

Net assets

995

1,250

7,156

1,879

11,280

11,940

e) Walking for Health

58

58

–

–

–

f) Scottish Walk Leadership Project

50

63

–

43

56

–

–

–

2

2

h) Legacies

14

31

–

712

729

i) Other restricted funds

333

310

10

130

97

Total restricted funds

523

632

55

1,250

1,304

j) Permanent endowment

36

–

–

995

959

Total endowment funds

36

–

–

995

959

a) Areas, Groups and Councils

2,565

2,952

385

1,360

1,362

k) People’s Postcode Lottery

2,281

1,487

(736)

3,864

3,806

l) East Berks Endowment

–

–

(10)

34

44

m) Appeal fund

–

–

6

20

14

22

104

117

250

215

o) Fixed assets*

–

–

366

1,396

1,030

p) Office refurbishment

–

–

130

130

–

q) Brand development

–

–

(29)

21

50

r) Tapestry programme

–

166

–

81

247

Total designated funds

4,868

4,709

229

7,156

6,768

General funds

5,282

6,028

(284)

1,879

2,909

Total unrestricted funds

10,150

10,737

(55)

9,035

9,677

Total funds

10,709

11,369

–

11,280

11,940

Prior year analysis of net assets between funds

g) Increasing physical activity participation
2018

2017

Permanent
endowments

Restricted
funds

Designated
funds

General
funds

Total
funds

Total
funds

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Fixed assets

–

–

915

–

915

406

Investments

959

–

–

785

1,744

1,727

Net current assets

–

1,304

5,853

2,200

9,357

5,886

Provisions

–

–

–

(76)

(76)

(76)

Net assets

959

1,304

6,768

2,909

11,940

7,943

Permanent endowment funds

Unrestricted funds
Designated funds

n) Legal fund

Incoming resources include net gains on investments. *Relates only to assets held centrally.
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2018

2017

At 30
September

At 1
October

a) Areas, Groups and Councils

Incoming
resources
and gains

Less:
outgoing
resources

Transfers

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

a) Areas, Groups and Councils

52

72

(31)

333

384

b) Lets Walk Cymru

125

144

–

28

47

c) Pathwatch

–

4

–

59

63

d) Medal routes

–

25

25

–

–

e) Walking for Health

474

4,778

15

–

(11)

f) Scottish Walk Leadership Project

50

39

–

56

45

–

–

–

2

2

h) Legacies

41

20

–

729

708

i) Other restricted funds

106

73

–

97

64

Total restricted funds

848

855

9

1,304

1,302

j) Permanent endowment

–

–

–

959

959

Total endowment funds

–

–

–

959

959

a) Areas, Groups and Councils

2,552

2,903

375

1,362

1,338

k) People’s Postcode Lottery

5,267

1,210

(475)

3,806

224

l) East Berks Endowment

–

–

–

44

44

m) Appeal fund

–

7

4

14

17

19

97

200

215

93

o) Fixed assets*

–

–

516

1,030

514

p) Data research

–

–

(200)

50

250

q) Tapestry programme

–

184

(211)

247

642

Total designated funds

7,838

4,401

209

6,768

3,122

General funds

5,448

4,881

(218)

2,909

2,560

Total unrestricted funds

13,286

9,282

(9)

9,677

5,682

Total funds

14,134

10,137

–

11,940

7,943

Restricted funds

g) Increasing physical activity participation

Permanent endowment funds

The restricted funds held by Areas, Groups and
Councils comprise mainly legacies and bequests
which are considered to have geographical
restrictions as to their use.
The designated Areas, Groups and Councils fund
represents the aggregate of the accumulated
unrestricted funds held by the Rambler’s Areas,
Groups and Councils. The fund receives area budget
payments and the unrestricted funds raised by Areas,
Groups and Councils; unrestricted expenses of the
Areas, Groups and Councils are charged to it,
analysed over the charitable objects of the charity.
Include in transfers is £394,000 which relates
to Ramblers funding provided to Areas, Groups
and Councils (see also note 19).
b) Let’s Walk Cymru

Unrestricted funds
Designated funds

n) Legal fund

Purposes of restricted and designated funds

Let’s Walk Cymru is a national programme to support
and help develop health walking opportunities across
Wales through the promotion of group-led walks and
independent walking. The programme is funded by
the Welsh Government.
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d) Medal Routes
This project involved the setting up of a series of walking
hubs around Scotland with three circular routes from each
hub (gold, silver and bronze target levels). The routes form
a walking legacy for the 2014 Glasgow Commonwealth
Games and are established with local partners.
e) Walking for Health
The Walking for Health programme was established by
Natural England in 2000 and supports the largest network
of health walks across England. In 2012, the Walking for
Health programme was divested by Natural England and
the Department of Health to The Ramblers’ Association
following a competitive tendering exercise. The Ramblers
delivered the programme with support and funding from
Macmillan Cancer Support.
f) Scottish Walk Leadership project

c) Pathwatch
The Big Pathwatch was funded by Ramblers Holidays
Charitable Trust, with additional funding from the Garfield
Weston Foundation. The project allowed us to carry out
a nationwide survey of right of way in England and Wales
and publish a report of our findings. The report celebrated
what’s great about our path network, whilst highlighting
the problems that walkers encounter. We acted on these
findings to help make improvements to paths, by notifying
local councils and our own footpath maintenance volunteers
where problems needed addressing. Through the Big
Pathwatch, we engaged with a broader audience,
including young people and families.

Incoming resources include net gains on investments. *Relates only to assets held centrally.
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As a result of the project, many more people have taken
an interest in protecting their paths and helping to improve
them. Since the report, we have continued to campaign for
a better policy framework around path maintenance, which
has included influencing the passage of the Agriculture
Bill through parliament to ensure better provisions for path
maintenance are included. We are also now updating our
reporting tool to make it more effective, particularly for
local authorities and path maintenance volunteers.
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This is funded by investment income received from
sport Scotland to support our 55 groups in Scotland
to grow and develop.
g) Increasing physical activity participation
This investment funding was made by Paths for All to
support our core promoting walking work in Scotland.
The aim was to increase engagement in national campaigns
to promote walking, deliver population wide initiatives
to encourage independent walking, encourage greater
participation within led walks, develop progression
pathways to and from walking activities and support
the promotion and maintenance of welcoming and
safe walking environments.
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h) Legacies

k) People’s Postcode Lottery

o) Fixed assets

q) Brand development

The Ramblers’ Association received a number of restricted
legacies during the financial year. This fund also includes
the interest on a permanent endowment bequeathed to
the Ramblers.

Since 2017, the Ramblers has held a society lottery license
from the Gambling Commission, which is administered on
our behalf by the People’s Postcode Lottery (PPL) who act
as our External Lottery Manager (ELM). The total annual
draw value of this license is capped at £10m with 40%
of the value going to players in prizes; 34% to the charity;
and the balance to PPL.

This designated fund was set up to reflect the illiquid nature
of these assets as they are not available to cover general
expenditure. This fund does not include £1,000 worth
of assets held by our Areas and Groups.

This fund has previously known as the Data research
fund. The fund was established to find out about potential
membership and their walking aspirations in order to
engage with them. Phase one of the project is complete
and phase two will commence in the coming year. Phase
two is to establish a positioning and brand framework
for the Ramblers in order to improve the quality and
consistency of brand decision making thus improving
relevance and supporter commitment.

i) Other restricted funds
These funds receive income from, and expenses charged
against small grants made to The Ramblers’ Association
for specific projects.
j) Permanent endowment fund
This relates to a legacy notification received for which the
use of the funds has been restricted. The bequest states
that the capital should remain in a trust to be called the
Derek Oakes Trust.
The will states that all income generated by the trust to
be paid to Ramblers in perpetuity and should be used for
the protection, preservation and maintenance of public
footpaths in the open countryside and to defend its beauty.

During the 2018/19 financial year, we received £2.9m
from four draws, which has funded key programmes
including the development of walking operations and
training of volunteers across GB, advocacy campaigns,
digital and data transformation programmes, membership
development and core services. The balance of this fund
will be used in 2019/20 to continue these programmes.

Transfers of £366,000 to this fund from general funds
and other designated funds represents the difference
between additions and depreciation during the year.
p) Office refurbishment

r) Tapestry programme
This fund was set aside to refurbish the office space
in London to install an improved ventilation system not
provided under our current lease which expires in March
2020. Plans are underway to complete the installation
by June 2020.

l) East Berkshire expendable endowment
This fund represents general funds of the East Berkshire
Group paid to central office to be spent or invested as
agreed with the East Berkshire Group from time to time.
m) Appeal fund
This fund receives unrestricted donations raised through
Ramblers’ appeals and designated for use on the purpose
described in the appeal letter. After direct appeal costs
have been deducted, the fund is used to deliver charitable
work as described in each appeal. The Appeal fund is
not used to pay for administration.
n) Legal fund
This fund sets aside resources to finance legal cases
and public enquiries across Britain. The fund will hold
a maximum balance of £250,000 and will be replenished,
commensurate with needs and dependent on prevailing
financial resources.

19. Area and Council funding
Areas and Councils are funded from the central reserves to support their local charitable activities. This support is
provided on the basis of a budget submitted. During the year, the following funding was received by Areas and Councils.

2019

2018

£000s

£000s

388

339

Funding to Councils

6

4

Other payment to Areas and Groups

18

19

Donations from Area and Councils to central reserves

(12)

(6)

Net funding to Areas and Councils

400

356

Unrestricted
Funding to Areas

During the year the fund was replenished to £250,000.
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The Tapestry programme is a series of linked projects
designed to review and update all of our information and
communications technology and due to be completed
by July 2020. This fund will be used for technology and
process improvements and improve the management
of our data.
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20. Operating lease commitments

22. Related party transactions

At 30 September 2019, the charity had total commitments under operating leases expiring as follows:

Open Spaces Society

–

run the network of local Areas and Groups;

During the year Kate Ashbrook held the position
of vice chair until April when she was elected chair,
whilst continuing in her role of general secretary
of the Open Spaces Society.

–

lead over 50,000 walks every year plus over
30,000 Walking for Health walks;

–

help thousands of people improve their health
through walking;

–

monitor and challenge changes to approximately
2,000 footpaths in England and Wales every year;

–

manage over 140 path maintenance teams
working in partnership with local councils;

–

protect 1 million hectares of open land
in England and Wales, and Scotland.

Equipment

Property

2019

2018

2019

2018

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Less than 1 year

1

6

129

237

Within 1 – 5 years

–

2

8

234

1

8

137

471

21. Trustees expenses
Expenses as detailed below were re-imbursed to a total of 16 (2018:15) trustees for costs incurred in connection with
the Board of Trustees and preparatory meetings, general council, Ramblers’ Association Area and Groups annual and
other meetings, rallies and events.
2019

2018

£000s

£000s

Travel and subsistence

13

11

Telephone, postage and miscellaneous

2

1

15

12

The Ramblers’ association and the Open Spaces Society
(OSS) have joint copyright of the book “Rights of way –
a guide to law and practice”. The Ramblers Association
agreed to manage the production and distribution of the
third and fourth editions. Profits from the sale of the third
edition were split 60% to the Ramblers Association and
40% to OSS, and of the fourth edition 80% to the Ramblers
Association and 20% to OSS. The OSS’s share of profit,
based on sales of the fourth edition for the year, was £284
(2018: £518). At 30 September 2019 the balance owed to
OSS was £802 (2018: £518).
23. Volunteers
Volunteers founded the Ramblers and they are vital to the
work of the charity. Today, thousands of volunteers across
England, Scotland and Wales directly deliver our charity’s
mission to protect and expand the places people walk
and to promote walking. They’ve played a crucial role in
our many achievements, from creating National Trails and
national parks to winning the right to roam across huge
areas of open country.

Among many other things, our volunteers currently:

25. Financial instruments
At the balance sheet date, the charity held financial
assets at amortised cost of £8,998,000 (2018: £9,922,000)
financial assets at fair value is £1,235,000 (2018:
£1,232,000). Financial liabilities at amortised cost
is £769,000 (2018: £742,000).
26. Capital commitment
At the balance sheet date, the Ramblers’ Association
had £34,000 commitments to capital expenditure
(2018: £66,000).
27. Post balance sheet event – Coronavirus
The Ramblers is very thankful that all our funders continue
to be supportive of any action we take, and feel is
necessary and appropriate to safeguard the health and
wellbeing of our staff, volunteers and members.
The charity has considered the impact on our activities,
income and expenditure during these unprecedented times
and will use the government’s Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme by placing some staff members on furlough. Based
on this and other short-term mitigating actions taken by
the charity, combined with the continued support of our
members and donors, we believe at this stage that there will
be no material impact to our medium to long term cashflow.
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Ramblers GB
2nd Floor Camelford House
87-90 Albert Embankment
London
SE1 7TW
Tel: +44 (0)20 3961 3300
Email: ramblers@ramblers.org.uk

Ramblers Scotland
Caledonia House
1 Redheughs Rigg
South Gyle
Edinburgh
EH12 9DQ
Tel: +44 (0)131 357 5850
Email: scotland@ramblers.org.uk

Ramblers Cymru
3 Coopers Yard
Curran Road
Cardiff
CF10 5NB
Tel: +44 (0)20 3961 3310
Email: cerddwyr@ramblers.org.uk
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The Ramblers’ Association is a registered charity
(England & Wales number 1093577, Scotland
number SC039799) and a company limited by
guarantee, registered in England & Wales (number
4458492). Registered office: 2nd floor, Camelford
House, 87-90 Albert Embankment, London SE1 7T
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